Public Document Pack

NOTICE

4 .

S !

> Ve

S 2 &

S0 s

§ e ‘

OF - R

z | Royal Borough
2 | of Windsor &
2 | Maidenhead

MEETING

WINDSOR URBAN DEVELOPMENT
MANAGEMENT PANEL

will meet on

MONDAY, 18TH MARCH, 2019
At 7.00 pm
in the
COUNCIL CHAMBER - GUILDHALL WINDSOR

TO: MEMBERS OF THE WINDSOR URBAN DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PANEL

COUNCILLORS MALCOLM ALEXANDER (CHAIRMAN), PHILLIP BICKNELL (VICE-
CHAIRMAN), MICHAEL AIREY, JOHN BOWDEN, WISDOM DA COSTA, EILEEN QUICK,
SAMANTHA RAYNER, MALCOLM BEER AND DAVID CANNON

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS

COUNCILLORS SHAMSUL SHELIM, NATASHA AIREY, CHRISTINE BATESON,
HASHIM BHATTI, GARY MUIR, WESLEY RICHARDS, LYNNE JONES AND
EDWARD WILSON

Karen Shepherd — Service Lead, Governance - Issued: 8 March 2019

Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part | of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s
web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator Wendy Binmore 01628 796251

Accessibility - Members of the public wishing to attend this meeting are requested to notify the clerk in advance of
any accessibility issues

Fire Alarm - In the event of the fire alarm sounding or other emergency, please leave the building quickly and calmly
by the nearest exit. Do not stop to collect personal belongings and do not use the lifts. Do not re-enter the building
until told to do so by a member of staff.

Recording of Meetings —In line with the council’'s commitment to transparency the public part of the meeting will be
audio recorded, and may also be filmed and broadcast through the online application Periscope. If filmed, the footage
will be available through the council’s main Twitter feed @RBWM or via the Periscope website. The audio recording
will also be made available on the RBWM website, after the meeting.

Filming, recording and photography of public Council meetings may be undertaken by any person attending the
meeting. By entering the meeting room you are acknowledging that you may be audio or video recorded and that this
recording will be in the public domain. If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to the
Democratic Services or Legal representative at the meeting



http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/

ITEM

AGENDA

PART |
SUBJECT

PAGE

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest.
MINUTES
To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS (DECISION)

To consider the Head of Planning’s report on planning applications
received.

Full details on all planning applications (including application forms, site
plans, objections received, correspondence etc.) can be found by
accessing the Planning Applications Public Access Module at
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/pam/search.jsp

ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING)

To consider the Essential Monitoring reports.

55 - 56



http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/pam/search.jsp




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 2

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985

In accordance with the requirements of the Local Government (Access to Information)
Act

1985, each item on this report includes a list of Background Papers that have been
relied

on to a material extent in the formulation of the report and recommendation.

The list of Background Papers will normally include relevant previous planning decisions,
replies to formal consultations and relevant letter of representation received from local
societies, and members of the public. For ease of reference, the total number of letters
received from members of the public will normally be listed as a single Background
Paper,

although a distinction will be made where contrary views are expressed. Any replies to
consultations that are not received by the time the report goes to print will be recorded
as

“Comments Awaited”.

The list will not include published documents such as the Town and Country Planning
Acts

and associated legislation, Department of the Environment Circulars, the Berkshire
Structure Plan, Statutory Local Plans or other forms of Supplementary Planning
Guidance,

as the instructions, advice and policies contained within these documents are common
to

the determination of all planning applications. Any reference to any of these documents
will be made as necessary under the heading “Remarks”.

STATEMENT OF THE HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998

The Human Rights Act 1998 was brought into force in this country on 2nd October 2000,
and it will now, subject to certain exceptions, be directly unlawful for a public authority to
act in a way which is incompatible with a Convention right. In particular, Article 8
(respect

for private and family life) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (peaceful enjoyment of property)
apply to planning decisions. When a planning decision is to be made however, there is
further provision that a public authority must take into account the public interest. In the
vast majority of cases existing planning law has for many years demanded a balancing
exercise between private rights and public interest, and therefore much of this authority’s
decision making will continue to take into account this balance.

The Human Rights Act will not be referred to in the Officer’s report for individual
applications beyond this general statement, unless there are exceptional circumstances
which demand more careful and sensitive consideration of Human Rights issues.



MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS
Disclosure at Meetings

If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration of
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a DPI or Prejudicial
Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest in their Register of Interests they are still required to
disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.

A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the item but must not
take part in the discussion or vote at a meeting. The speaking time allocated for Members to make
representations is at the discretion of the Chairman of the meeting. In order to avoid any accusations of taking
part in the discussion or vote, after speaking, Members should move away from the panel table to a public area
or, if they wish, leave the room. If the interest declared has not been entered on to a Members’ Register of
Interests, they must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) (relating to the Member or their partner) include:

e Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain.

e Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any expenses occurred in
carrying out member duties or election expenses.

e Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has not been
fully discharged.

o Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority.

e Any licence to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

e Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant
person has a beneficial interest.

e Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, and
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued
share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class belonging to the
relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek advice
from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.

A Member with a DPI should state in the meeting: 1 declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, | will leave the room/ move to the public area for the
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’

Or, if making representations on the item: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x because xxx.
As soon as we come to that item, | will make representations, then | will leave the room/ move to the
public area for the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’

Prejudicial Interests

Any interest which a reasonable, fair minded and informed member of the public would reasonably believe is so
significant that it harms or impairs the Member’s ability to judge the public interest in the item, i.e. a Member’s
decision making is influenced by their interest so that they are not able to impartially consider relevant issues.

A Member with a Prejudicial interest should state in the meeting: ‘1 declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, | will leave the room/ move to the public area for the
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’

Or, if making representations in the item: 1 declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x because xxx. As soon as
we come to that item, | will make representations, then | will leave the room/ move to the public area for
the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’

Personal interests

Any other connection or association which a member of the public may reasonably think may influence a
Member when making a decision on council matters.

Members with a Personal Interest should state at the meeting: ‘I wish to declare a Personal Interest in item x
because xxx’. As this is a Personal Interest only, | will take part in the discussion and vote on the
matter. 6



Agenda Iltem 3

WINDSOR URBAN DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PANEL

WEDNESDAY, 27 FEBRUARY 2019

PRESENT: Councillors Malcolm Alexander (Chairman), Phillip Bicknell (Vice-

Chairman),

Michael Airey,  John Bowden, @ Wisdom Da Costa, Eileen Quick,

Samantha Rayner, Malcolm Beer and Edward Wilson

Officers: Ashley Smith, Wendy Binmore, Lyndsay Jennings and Sian Saadeh

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Cannon.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Clir Da Costa — Declared a prejudicial interest in item 1 as he had shared a Facebook
post asking if residents wanted to save the Sebastopol pub which could be viewed as
being predetermined. Councillor Da Costa did not take part in the debate or the vote

on the item.

MINUTES

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held on 30
January 2019 be approved.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS (DECISION)

18/03360

18/03384

Mr O’Sullivan: Construction of 6 x one bedroom and 3 x two bedroom
apartments with associated parking, pedestrian access gate to rear
and amenity space following demolition of existing building at The
Sebastopol, 137 Clewer Hill Road, Windsor SL4 4DW — THE PANEL
voted to delegate the granting of planning permission with the
conditions listed in Section 13 of the Main Report to the Head of
Planning. The panel granted authority to the Head of Planning to
secure design alterations if considered appropriate.

Five Councillors voted in favour of the motion (Clirs M. Airey,
Alexander, Beer, Bowden and Quick), and three Councillors
voted against the motion (Clirs Bicknell, S. Rayner and E.
Wilson). Councillor Da Costa did not take part in the debate or
the vote on this item.

(The Panel was addressed by Sheila Barnes in objection and Terry
O’Sullivan the applicant).

Hawtrey Developments: Construction of x3 flats with associated
parking, following demolition of x4 existing garages - part
retrospective at Land to the Rear of Maynard Court, Clarence Road,
Windsor — THE PANEL VOTED UNANIMOUSLY to approve the
application with the conditions listed in Section 13 of the Main
Report, as per the Head of Planning’s recommendations.

v



(The Panel was addressed Angus Beatty in objection).

ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING)

All details of the Essential Monitoring Reports were noted.

The meeting, which began at 7.00 pm, finished at 8.05 pm

CHAIRMAN. ... ..o



Agenda Item 4

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD

Windsor Urban Panel

18th March 2019

INDEX
APP = Approval
CLU = Certificate of Lawful Use
DD = Defer and Delegate
DLA = Defer Legal Agreement
PERM = Permit
PNR = Prior Approval Not Required
REF = Refusal
WA = Would Have Approved
WR = Would Have Refused
Item No. 1 Application No. 18/03754/FULL Recommendation REF Page No.
Location: Squires Garden Centre Maidenhead Road Windsor SL4 5UB
Proposal: Erection of 39 dwellings, creation of new access off Maidenhead Road and provision of parking, internal
circulation, public open space, landscaping and related infrastructure
Applicant:  Bewley Homes PLC Member Call-in: Expiry Date: 25 March 2019
And Square Bay (No5) ClIr E Wilson
LLP and CliIr Da
Costa
Item No. 2 Application No. 19/00290/FULL Recommendation REF Page No.
Location: 19 Arthur Road Windsor SL4 1RS
Proposal: Single storey side/rear extension, alterations to rear fenestration, raising of ridge, second floor rear extension
with rear dormer and 4 No. roof lights to facilitate a loft conversion
Applicant:  Mr & Mrs Pearson Member Call-in: CliIr Richards Expiry Date: 28 March 2019

AGLIST



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD
PLANNING COMMITTEE

WINDSOR URBAN DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

18 March 2019 ltem: 1

Application 18/03754/FULL

No.:

Location: Squires Garden Centre Maidenhead Road Windsor SL4 5UB

Proposal: Erection of 39 dwellings, creation of new access off Maidenhead Road and provision of
parking, internal circulation, public open space, landscaping and related infrastructure

Applicant: Bewley Homes PLC And Square Bay (No5) LLP

Agent: Mrs Hannah Knowles

Parish/Ward:  Bray Parish/Clewer North Ward

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Antonia Liu on 01628 796034 or at
antonia.liu@rbwm.gov.uk

1.

11

1.2

1.3

14

15

SUMMARY

The site lies in Green Belt and the proposed development is considered to be an inappropriate
form of development in the Green Belt which would result in harm to the openness of the Green
Belt and would be contrary to one of the purposes of the Green Belt. No case for Very Special
Circumstances (VSC) has been demonstrated to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and any
other harm.

The Green Belt boundary is proposed to be amended through the BLPSV and the site forms part
of a larger parcel of land proposed to be allocated for housing, ref: HA11 Land West of Windsor,
north and south of the A308. Given the extent of unresolved objections to BLPSV policy HO1 this
currently carries little weight and is only a material planning consideration. The Development
Plan has primacy.

There are concerns that the proposal would be an overly dominant, cramped, urban development
which would be out of character with the semi-rural and spacious character of the streetscene
and area. The scale and massing, stepped heights and elevations, complicated roof form and
variations in the size and style of fenestration and brick surrounds would also result in the
proposed block of flats at plots 28-39 being incongruous when seen in context with neighbouring
development to the detriment of the streetscene and out of keeping with the wider locality.

The proposal includes 30% of the proposed residential units as affordable housing, but tenure
mix has not been agreed. In the absence of a completed S106 legal agreement, the
development fails to secure an acceptable level and tenure of affordable housing units.

Additional information and amendments have been submitted to address concerns raised on
sustainable drainage, trees and highways, and any further comments from the Lead Local Flood
Authority, the Council’s Arboriculture Officer and Local Highway Authority will be reported in an
update. As necessary the planning balance may be updated in response to those comments.

It is recommended the Panel refuses planning permission for the following summarised
reasons (the full reasons are identified in Section 13 of this report):

1. | The proposal represents inappropriate development in Green Belt, which is by definition
harmful to the Green Belt, furthermore it would be harmful to visual and spatial openness of
the Green Belt. This harm is afforded substantial weight. Very Special Circumstances that
clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm has not been
demonstrated.

2. | By reason of its layout, scale, form and design the proposal would result in a dense, urban
pattern of development which would appear overly dominant and cramped within the site
and out of character with the semi-rural and spacious character of the streetscene and

10



3.1

4.1

5.1

52

area. Furthermore, the block of flats at plot 28-39 would have a disjointed and
disharmonious appearance due to its stepped heights and elevations, complicated roof
form and variations in the size and style of fenestration and brick surrounds. The block of
flats at plot 28-39 would therefore fail to successfully integrate with the neighbouring
development, the streetscene and area.

3. | In the absence of a completed S106 legal agreement, the development fails to secure 30%
Affordable Housing and an acceptable tenure mix.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

. The Council’'s Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to
determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by
the Panel.

° At the request of Councillor E Wilson and Councillor Da Costa, irrespective of the
recommendation of the Head of Planning, in the public interest

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

The 0.73ha site comprises land bounded by Maidenhead Road to the north; the
A308/Maidenhead Road roundabout to the east; the A308 to the south and the residential
dwellings to the west beyond which is open land. Willows Park Homes’ are to the north west and
The Willows to the north — a former mansion house dating from 1850 which has been divided into
a number of individual properties. The site was occupied by Squires Garden Centre which
includes a car park, a single storey retail building and an open air plant display area, but has
recently been vacated. The site is bounded by a red brick wall that forms part of the garden
centre building to the north; a wrought iron fence to the east; trees/shrubs on the boundary with
the A308 to the south; and a combination of close board fencing and trees to the west.

KEY CONSTRAINTS

The entire site lies in Green Belt, and in accordance with the Environment Agency Flood Map for
Planning the eastern corner of the site lies in Flood Zone 2

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

The proposal is for the erection of 39 dwellings, creation of new access off Maidenhead Road
and provision of parking, internal circulation, public open space, landscaping and related
infrastructure. 27 units are for the open market, with 12 units proposed as affordable housing.
The proposed housing mix is as follows:

Market Housing No. of units
1-bed flat 3

2-bed flat 8

3-bed house 12

4-bed house 4

Total 27
Affordable Housing | No. of units
1-bed flat 2

2-bed flat 8

3-bed flat 2

Total 12

The proposal layout, drawing ref: 17-J2116-01, shows the retention of the existing access from
serving a 2-storey house (plot 27) sited to the west of the access road and a part 3-storey, part 2-
storey block of 12 flats sited to the east (plots 28-39). The house at plot 27 includes 3 undercroft
parking spaces, and for the block of flats a parking area comprising of 18 spaces is located to the
south of plot 27-39 with 1 additional car parking space to the front of the block of flats and 1
parking space to the north.

11



5.3

5.4

5.3

6.1

A new access to the west serves the remaining residential units (plots 1-26). To the east of the
access road are 5 detached houses and a pair of semi-detached houses, which are 2-2 % storey
in height. To the west of the access road are 2 detached houses, 2 sets of 3-house terraces and
another detached house, all of which are also 2-2 ¥ storey. Parking for the houses are provided
in internal or external garages, and hardstanding to the front and/or side of the houses. A block of
10 flats located to the south of these houses, which is -2 %2 storey in height. 18 parking spaces for
the flats are provided to the west, adjacent to the shared boundary with Willows Cottage. The
parking area for the flats is access via an undercroft with plot 14 being sited over the access.

An area of open space is provided along the southern boundary of the site to the south of plot 20
and north-east of plot 10-19 which is irregular in shape and measuring approximately 255sgm. A
Local Area for Play (LAP) is proposed within this space.

There is extensive planning history for the site associated with the operation of the garden centre,
but no relevant planning history for the redevelopment of the site for residential or otherwise.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Adopted Royal Borough Local Plan (2003)

The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are:

Issue Adopted Local Plan Policy
Green Belt GB1
Design character and appearance of area DG1, H10,H11
Highways P4, T5, T7
Flooding F1
Open Space R3, R4

These policies can be found at
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local plan documents and appendices

MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
National Planning Policy Framework Sections (NPPF) (2019)

Section 2 — Achieving Sustainable Development

Section 4 — Decision Making

Section 5 — Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes

Section 8 — Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities

Section 9 — Promoting Sustainable Transport

Section 11 — Making Effective Use of Land

Section 12 — Achieving Well-Designed Places

Section 13 — Protecting Green Belt Land

Section 14 — Meeting the Challenges of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal Change
Section 15 — Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version

Issue Local Plan Policy

Appropriate Development In Green Belt and acceptable SP1, SP5
Impact on Green Belt

Design in Keeping with Character and Appearance of Area SP2, SP3

Housing Development HO1, HO2, HO5, HA1l1
Affordable Housing HO3

Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows NR2

Infrastructure Provision IF1

12


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices

7.1

7.2

7.3

Sustainable Transport IF2

Community Facilities IF7

The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents have now been
submitted to the Secretary of State for examination. The Submission Version of the Borough
Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough. However, by
publishing and submitting the Borough Local Plan for independent examination the Council has
formally confirmed its intention to adopt the submission version. As the Council considers the
emerging Borough Local Plan to be sound and legally compliant, officers and Councillors should
accord relevant policies and allocations significant weight in the determination of applications
taking account of the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies and the
degree of consistency of those policies to the NPPF (2012). Therefore, the weight afforded to
each policy at this stage will differ depending on the level and type of representation to that
policy. This is addressed in more detail in the assessment below.

This document can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/201026/borough local plan/1351/submission/1

Supplementary Planning Documents

¢ RBWM Interpretation of Policy F1
e Interpretation of Policies R2, R3, R4, R5 and R6

Other Local Strategies or Publications

Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are:
o RBWM Parking Strategy
o Affordable Housing Planning Guidance

More information on these documents can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local _development framework/494/supplementary planning

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT
Comments from interested parties
32 occupiers were notified directly of the application. The planning officer posted notices
advertising the application around the site on 15 January 2019 and the application was

advertised in the Local Press on 10 January 2019.

1 letters were received supporting the application, summarised as:

Where in the report this is
Comment .

considered
1. | Provision of housing to meet demand Para. 9.49-9.50

58 letters were received objecting to the application, including from Oakley Green and Fifield
Residents Association, summarised as:

Comment Where in the report this is
considered
1. Assumes Borough Local Plan will be adopted, application | Para. 9.12
is premature

13


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/201026/borough_local_plan/1351/submission/1
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning

2. Inappropriate  development in the Green Belt, | Section 9 i
encroachment into the countryside, harm to openness,
no Very Special Circumstances demonstrated
3. Increase in traffic resulting in congestion, increase in air | Section 9 vi
pollution and to the detriment of highway safety
4, Insufficient parking resulting in increase in on-street | Para. 9.34 — 9.36
parking pressures
5. Location of access is dangerous Para. 9.33
6. Density is too high resulting in a cramped layout to the | Section 9 iii & v
detriment of amenity for future occupiers and local
character
7. Height out of keeping, overly dominant with surrounding | Para. 9.19
properties
8. Loss of community use e.g. local café and restaurant | The café was an ancillary
which was by local residents to meet and socialise; | use to the main garden
development should include some kind of community | centre (Al, retail) use and
facility does not benefit from policy
protection as it is not a
principle use of the site.
9. Land liable to flood, inadequate drainage; increase in | Para. 9.13 - 9.14 and
pressure on sewer network Thames Water response
10. | Increase in pressure on GPs, Schools, Roads etc. Para. 10.1
11. | Harm to neighbouring amenity in terms of loss of view, | Para. 9.26 — 9.30. In relation
loss of light, loss of privacy, increase in noise and | to loss of view, this is not a
disturbance material planning
consideration.
12. | Harm to wildlife Para. 9.39 -9.44
13. | No change of use from commercial to residential has | Change of use forms part of
been approved. the proposal.
Consultees
Where in the report this is
Consultee Comment considered
Access Raises objections as no information on inclusive | Applicant has confirmed 10%
Advisory design or whether accessible and adaptable | of the units will be adaptable,
Forum dwellings are planned. and would be covered by

Building Regulations.

Environment
Protection

No objection subject to condition relating to
aircraft noise and site specific construction
environmental management  plan; and
informatives relating to aircraft noise, smoke
control, and asbestos.

Applicant has agreed to the
proposed pre-
commencement conditions.

Ecology

No objection subject to conditions relating to a
construction environmental management plan
(in line with the Environmental Protection
response); securing the recommendations
made in Section 6 of the Preliminary Ecology
Appraisal (2018); and submission and approval
of details of biodiversity enhancements; and an
informative relating to breeding birds.

Para. 9.39 — 9.44.

Berkshire
Archaeology

No objection subject to condition to secure
implementation of a programme  of
archaeological works to be submitted and
approved by the local planning authority.

Para. 9.45 — 9.46 and
applicant has agreed to the
proposed pre-
commencement condition.

Environment
Agency

Wishes to make no comment.

Noted.

Highways

No objection in principle but further information
required in relation to visibility splays, swept

Para. 9.31 —9.38

14




9.1

9.2

path analysis, cycle parking layout and to either
improve or make a financial contribution to
extent the footway from the A308 to bus stop on
Ruddlesway and improve/provide pedestrian
route from the site to Maidenhead Road.

Lead Local
Flood
Authority

Raises objection as there is insufficient
information to demonstrate whether all the
storage would be available for attenuating
surface water flows or whether flooding would
occur from permeable paving at a local low
point; pollution control capabilities; why above
ground SUDS features cannot be provided;
adequate mitigation to prevent overland flows
affecting the proposed properties; and how
exceedance flows will be managed.

Para. 9.13-9.14

Trees

Raises objections over the failures to secure the
long-term retention of off-site trees and the
landscaping scheme is insufficient to soften the
built form or provide a level of enhancement for
such a large and prominent development.

Para. 9.23 — 9.25

Thames
Water

No objection as application indicates that
surface waters will not be discharged in to the
public network.

Noted.

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are:

i Green Belt

ii Flood Risk

iii Character and Appearance

iV Trees

v Residential Amenity
Vi Highways

vii Ecology

viii Archaeology

iX Open Space

X Affordable Housing

Xi Other Material Considerations
Xii Case for Very Special Circumstances
i. Green Belt

The entire site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt and the fundamental aim of Green Belt
policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. Paragraph 145 of the NPPF
(2019) states that new buildings in the Green Belt would be regarded as inappropriate
development with some exceptions. Local Plan policy GB1 and BLPSV policy SP5 also sets out
appropriate development in the Green Belt. The Local Plan was prepared in accordance with the
cancelled PPG2 Green Belts while the BLPSV was prepared in accordance with the NPPF

15




9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

9.7

9.8

(2012), and therefore while broadly in line with the NPPF (2019) differs in emphasis. As such,
Local Plan policy GB1 is not consistent with the relevant NPPF and is not given full weight.
BLPSV Policy SP5 is NPPF (2012) consistent but due to unresolved objections is given moderate
weight as a material planning consideration. The NPPF is considered to be a more up-to-date
expression of Government intent and is afforded significant weight as a material planning
consideration.

One of the exceptions listed in paragraph 145 of the NPPF is the partial or complete
redevelopment of previously developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use which would
not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing development or
would not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt where the development
would re-use previously developed land and contribute towards meeting an identified affordable
housing need within the area of the local planning authority. This is a new assessment introduced
by the later frameworks. As land which is occupied by a permanent structure, including the
curtilage of the development and any associated fixed surface structure, it is accepted that the
application would fall under the definition of previously developed land given in the Framework. It
therefore falls to the impact on openness of the Green Belt.

The Council’s Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) (2016) evidences housing need (for
all types of housing) and demonstrates an identified need for an additional 434 new affordable
homes in the Borough every year. The proposal includes 12 affordable units on site, which
accords with Local Plan Policy H3 which seeks 30% to the total units in the form of affordable
housing to meet the needs of the Borough. This policy is consistent with the relevant framework.

Officers have reviewed relevant appeal decisions in relation to this part of the NPPF. On the
basis of that review the Panel is advised that paragraph 145 is not intended to be engaged where
a scheme only delivers a policy compliant level of affordable housing, or below a policy compliant
level based on a case of viability. It is clear that the intention of this section is to support
schemes that deliver materially above the policy level in order to contribute towards meeting the
need that is greater than 30% of the SHMA objectively assessed housing need of 712 dwellings
per annum. This scheme does not contribute above a policy compliant level. Additionally the
tenure of that affordable housing provision is key.

Policy H3 of the adopted Plan is silent on tenure, it makes reference to identified local need which
the SHMA sets out in detail. Paragraph 64 of the NPPF, which is a material consideration, states
that at least 10% of the homes are expected to be available for affordable home ownership, as
part of the overall affordable housing contribution from the site unless this would exceed the level
of affordable housing required in the area or prejudice the ability to meet the identified affordable
housing need within the Borough. This would equate to 4 of the 12 units. The SHMA sets out a
tenure of 80% of social/affordable rented and 20% intermediate housing to meet, which would
equate to 10 units of social/affordable rented and 2 units of intermediate housing. Whilst the
NPPF is more recent and is given significant weight in this respect the SHMA does identify the
need for affordable housing in this borough as being predominantly social rent and then
affordable rent. The expectation would be that the scheme would bring no more than 4 units
forward for Low Cost Home Ownership and the remainder for rented products. However, while
the Planning Statement breaks down the proposed mix of the 12 affordable units as 2 x 1-bed, 8
X 2-bed and 2 x 3-bed units, tenure is not set out and has not been agreed with the planning
authority.

Based on the above analysis it is considered that the proposal would not fall to be considered
against part f) of paragraph 145 of the Framework. Therefore the scheme has to be judged
against the test as to whether the development would have a greater impact on the openness of
the Green Belt than the existing development.

The concept of openness relates to the lack of development or built form. Mindful of recent case
law (Goodman v SSCLG [2017] and Turner v SSCLG and East Dorset Council [2016], which
should be given weight as material to the consideration of the application; the impact on
openness of the Green Belt should be assessed taking into account both spatial and visual
impact.

16



9.9

9.10

9.11

9.12

9.13

The extent of permanent buildings on the site equates to a footprint of approximately 1592sgm
against that of the proposed housing development which equates to a footprint of approximately
2198sgm, significantly less. In addition, the existing building is single storey measuring
approximately 4.5m in height and has a much lower profile than the proposed two-storey houses
which would be approximately 8.2m to 10m in height and the two to three storey blocks of flats
would be 10.2 to 11.4m, significantly higher. The existing building is concentrated in the north-
western corner of the site, while the residential dwellings would spread across the site to areas
previously used for storage, plant displays, car parking. While the extent to which these areas
remain open and free from development is dependent on the intensity of use at a particular time,
it is considered that permanent two to three storey buildings, many with their own individual
curtilage, would have a greater impact on spatial openness than the existing development.
Furthermore, while there would be some screening from trees, the increased amount of
development would clearly be notable from nearby residential properties, Maidenhead Road, the
A308 (Maidenhead Road and Windsor Road), the roundabout junction, and Ruddlesway.

Taking into account the footprint, height, scale and siting of the proposed development it is
considered that the proposed development would have a greater spatial and visual impact on the
openness of the Green Belt than the existing development, thereby failing the first test of part g)
of paragraph 145 of the Framework. Given the extent, it is also considered that the proposal
would result in a substantial loss of visual and spatial openness overall thereby failing the second
test of part g) of paragraph 145 of the Framework should it have been applicable.

For the reasons above the proposal is considered to constitute inappropriate development in the
Green Belt. Paragraph 144 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development is, by definition,
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances
(VSC). The harm by reason of inappropriateness is afforded substantial weight. The applicant
considers the proposal to be appropriate development, but has also put forward a case for VSC
within the submitted Planning Statement which is assessed below.

The Green Belt boundary is proposed to be amended through the BLPSV and the site forms part
of a larger parcel of land allocated for housing, ref: HA11 Land West of Windsor, north and south
of the A308. Given the extent of unresolved objections to BLPSV policy HO1 together with the
degree of consistency with the relevant Framework (the requirement to demonstrate exceptional
circumstances to release sites from the Green Belt) this carries limited weight as a material
planning consideration. The assessment above and conclusion is based on the Development
Plan Policy and the NPPF (2019) which carries significant weight as a material consideration,
greater than the limited weight afforded to the BLPSV. This is considered further in the planning
balance section of the report.

ii. Flood Risk

In accordance with the Environment Agency (EA) Flood Map for Planning, part of the block of
flats at plots 28 to 39 is sited in Flood Zone 2 while the remainder of the site lies in Flood Zone 1.
However, following a more detailed model undertaken by the EA the site is shown to be located
outside of the 1% + 20% Climate Change AEP area (flood zone 2). The NPPG advises that it is
not normally necessary to apply the Sequential Test, which aims to steer development away from
areas at highest risk, to development proposals in Flood Zone 1. The Exception Test is not
considered to be applicable as housing is considered to be ‘more vulnerable’ development in
accordance with Table 2: Flood Risk Vulnerability Classification, which is appropriate
development in Flood Zone 1 in accordance with NPPG Table 3: Flood Risk Vulnerability
Classification. With reference to paragraph 163 of the NPPF, as a material consideration given
significant weight, footnote 50 advises that a site specific flood risk assessment is not required in
this case and given its location in Flood Zone 1 it is not considered that the proposed
development would increase flood risk elsewhere. The proposal complies with the requirements
of Policy F1 of the adopted Local Plan.

17



9.14

9.15

9.16

9.17

9.18

To accord with paragraph 165 of the NPPF, as the proposal falls into the category of major
development (10 units or more), a sustainable drainage system should be incorporated unless
there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. The submitted sustainable drainage
strategy proposes to attenuate the additional surface water from the development by
incorporating permeable paving within all drives and carriageways, two storage tanks on site, and
a hydrobrake at the outflows into the Thames Water assets. This is acceptable in principle, but
further information was required on storage capacity, pollution control capabilities, clarification on
why above ground SUDS features cannot be provided, mitigation to prevent overland flows
affected the proposed properties, and how exceedance flows will be managed. Further
information to address these issues has been submitted by the applicant, and comments from the
Lead Local Flood Authority will be reported in an update. If the matter is not capable of being
resolved and the LLFA does not recommend a condition this could be a holding reason for
refusal.

iii. Character and Appearance

Local Plan policy H10 states that new residential schemes will be required to display a high
standard of design and landscaping and where possible enhance the existing environment, while
policy DG1 resists development which is cramped or which results in the loss of important
features which contributes local character, and policy H11 resists development would introduces
a scale or density which would be in incompatible with or cause damage to the character of the
area. As a material consideration, BLPSV policy SP2 requires larger developments (over 10
residential units) to foster a sense of community and sense of place, while SP3 requires
development to achieve a high quality design and expects compliance with the design principles
set out in the policy. Significance weight is given to these BLPSV policies as they accord with the
NPPF which states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development and indivisible
from good planning, and planning permission should be refused for development of poor design
that fails to take the opportunity available for improving the character and quality of an area and
the way it functions. This position is further supported by the NPPF as a material consideration of
significant weight on its own.

The proposed development would result in a density of approximately 55 dwellings per hectare
(dph), which would be a significant uplift from the density of the existing locality which is around
20-35 dph. There are no objections in principle to a higher density on site than the surroundings
as it would represent an efficient use of land. This is supported by paragraph 123 of the NPPF
that states that planning decisions should avoid homes being built at low densities and ensure
that developments make optimal use of each site. However, there are concerns that the proposal
would be overly dominant and cramped within the site, which is considered to represent
overdevelopment and would cause harm to the character and appearance of the area. This is
analysed further below.

To the west is a group of individual houses set in spacious plots. To the north is Willows
Riverside Park, which comprises detached, bungalow-style park homes on regular plots laid out
in a predominately linear rows on both sides of the internal access road. To the north-east are
mew houses generally arranged around a shared courtyard with long back gardens leading to the
riverside. While the character of built development within the locality is diverse, the experience of
the area is a semi-rural, verdant, edge of settlement with intermittent, domestic scale
development. Denser 1960s style residential development lies to the south-east within the
Windsor settlement, but due to the roundabout junction and the A308 the site is considered to be
physically and visibly separate from this more urban character area.

The proposal layout as shown on drawing ref: 17-J2116-01 retains the existing access from
Maidenhead Road serving a house (plot 27) and block of flats sited to the east (plots 28-39), and
proposes a new access to the west serving the remaining residential units (plots 1-26). As the
two access roads do not interlink, the site is effectively visually subdivided into two.

18



9.19

9.20

In relation to the eastern section of the site, the block of flats at plot 28-39, it would be a
substantial building occupying a large footprint of approximately 458sgm with the 3 storey section
measuring a maximum 11.4m in height and the 2 storey section measuring a maximum 9.4m in
height, both served by crown roofs which are a poor design solution. It is acknowledged that the
block of flats at plots 28-39 has been designed to break-up bulk and mass through stepped
heights and elevations, however these design elements do not sufficiently reduce the overall
cumulative mass of the building. It would also extend close to the north, east and southern
boundary of this section of the site and would abut the internal access road to the west, with
limited landscaping in between to mitigate the scale and massing of the building or to soften the
setting to reflect the prevailing semi-rural context. Together with the proposed house at plot 27
sited to the north-west and parking to the south of both buildings it is considered that the proposal
would result in the majority of the self-contained enclave, and the perception of it, being unduly
dominated by built form and cramped within the space in marked contrast to the character of the
area. Given its siting in the inward curve of the roundabout junction, bounded to the north, east
and south by the public highway the block of flats at plot 28-39 is also considered to be
particularly prominent within the streetscene. The success of integration is often derived from the
relationship with neighbouring development and a building sited in this location would be seen in
context from various vantage points with The Willows. In this case, in addition to appearing
cramped within it plot, it is considered that the scale and mass of the proposed block of flats at
plot 28-39 does not sufficiently relate to the domestic scale and massing of The Willows. It is
noted that the 2 storey section of the block of flats at plot 28-39 would be the nearest element to
The Willows before stepping up to 3 storey, but does not counter the cumulative mass of the
building. Furthermore, the complicated roof form and variations in the size and style of
fenestration and brick surrounds of the flats at plot 28-39 results in a disjointed appearance which
is also considered to be poor design in itself and detract from the character of The Willows. The
proximity of the block of flats at plot 28-39 would preclude the planting of tree species within the
site, or outside the site, which would attain a reasonable size in order to provide any significant
screening or enhancement. As such, it is considered to have a harmful effect on the character
and appearance of the streetscene and fails to comply with the Development Plan.

In terms of the western section of the site, the frontage development onto Maidenhead Road is
generally reflective of the pattern and character of this particular streetscene. However, when
approaching the central part of the western section of the site the design and layout of the houses
would be such that this part would be dominated by building, hard-surfacing and car parking. Soft
landscaping strips are proposed to the front of the houses, but it is considered that the amount
would provide little visual relief from the amount of built development. Furthermore, the height of
planting would have to be limited to avoid the obstruction of sightlines for cars. It is therefore
considered that this would represent an overly dominant form of development. The impression
would be exacerbated by the expanse of building from the terraces at plot 3-5 and plot 6-8. There
is no variation in building height or building line, and with a steep pitch gable room and a limited
gap (1.2m) between the two terraces it is considered to present an overly large rectangular block.
The fenestration, in particularly the consistent row of first floor windows, would also emphasis the
elongated form and would have a rather monotonous appearance. Such a dense, urban form and
uniform pattern of development would be in marked contrast to the semi-rural and spacious
character of the area. The block of flats to the south at plot 10-19 is also considered to be a
substantial building occupying a large footprint of approximately 444sgm with 2 storey element
with roof accommodation having a maximum height of approximately 10.2m and connecting mid-
section with a height of approximately 7.7m and another 2 storey element with a maximum height
of approximately 9.2m. As with the block of flats at plots 28-39, the building has been designed to
break-up bulk and mass with stepped heights and elevations, however these design elements are
not considered to sufficiently reduce the overall cumulative mass of the building. It would also
extend close to the southern boundary with the A308 with limited landscaping in between, would
abut the parking area to the west, and abut and extend over the internal access road to plot 9 to
the north. As such, it is considered that there would be an insufficient setting and soft landscaping
to the proposed block of flats at plot 10-19 to mitigate its scale and massing and to reflect the
prevailing semi-rural environment. The block of flats at plot 10-19 would be visible from the A308
to the detriment of this streetscene. While there are existing trees along the boundary with the
A308, there are concerns over the impact and retention of these trees, covered later in the report.

19



9.21

9.22

9.23

9.24

9.25

It is acknowledged that the redevelopment of this site is likely to necessitate built form of some
substance, but for the reasons given it would result in an unacceptable form and scale which
would be harmful to the character and appearance of the streetscene and the locality. It is also
acknowledged that areas to the west and south of the site forms a strategic housing site identified
in the BLPSV and, if realised, it would likely alter the character and appearance of the wider area.
However, this policy is only a material planning consideration given limited weight given the
extent of unresolved objections to BLPSV policy HO1. The Development Plan has primacy.

Overall, it is considered that the proposed development would harm the character and
appearance of the streetscene and wider area. Consequently, this would be contrary to Local
Plan policies H10, H11 and DG1, emerging BLPSV policies SP2 and SP3 and paragraph 127 of
the NPPF. This weighs against the scheme in the planning balance set out at the end of this
report.

iv.Trees

Adopted Local Plan policy N6 requires new development to allow for the retention of existing
suitable trees wherever practicable, to include protection measures necessary to protect trees
during development and an appropriate tree planting and landscaping scheme. Where the
amenity value of trees outweigh the justification for development then planning permission may
be refused. As a material consideration of significant weight, BLPSV NR2 states that
development proposals should carefully consider the impact of proposed development on existing
trees and where harm is unavoidable provide appropriate mitigation measure. New development
should also plant new trees and allow adequate space for new trees to grow. Where the amenity
value of trees outweighs the justification for development than planning permission may be
refused.

As originally submitted, the existing trees within the site are considered to be of low quality or
sited in an unsustainable location. There are no objections, in principle, to their loss subject to an
acceptable landscaping scheme. In relation to the impact on off-site trees, there are a number of
significant trees located around the perimeter of the site on the adopted highway which the
proposed development would conflict with thereby potentially harming their health and longevity.
The balcony structure to the south-east corner of the block of flats at plot 28-39 would intrude into
the RPA of T11 (oak) and T12 (cherry plum), while the block of flats at plot 10-19 would also be
sited on the very edge of the RPA of T20 (Ash) with no allowances for construction processes or
a margin of error, and therefore likely to result in some incursion. Furthermore, no details on
underground utilities which would be required to serve the development have been provided to
demonstrate no additional incursion into RPAs. In terms of mitigation for the loss of on-site trees
and potential harm to off-site trees, the landscaping scheme originally submitted is considered to
be insufficient to soften the built form or provide an appropriate level of enhancement. The layout
indicates that areas for tree planting would be either up tight against hardstanding (parking bays)
or within 5m of proposed buildings, which would preclude the planting of tree species on highway
land which would attain a reasonable size to provide some significance and enhancement. Being
the main road between Maidenhead and Windsor and the junction with Ruddlesway, the trees are
highly visible and make a significant contribution to the verdant character. There would be harm
through the loss of trees in itself and harm to the character of the area. A response to the
Council’'s Arboriculture Officer's initial comments and revised landscaping scheme has been
submitted in an effort to address these concerns. Comments from the Council’'s Arboriculture
Officer on this additional/revised information will be reported in an update. Currently the
assessment is that the proposal fails to accord with the development plan and this weighs against
the scheme.

Additional concerns were raised by the Council’s Arboriculture Officer on the potential shading on
some proposed ground floor and first floor rooms and trees, leading to a pressure from future
owners/occupiers to prune or fell to the detriment of their health and longevity. In most instances
the affected windows would not be the sole source of outlook and light and and/or the separation
distance is considered sufficient so as not to be unduly overbearing. As such this concern is not
considered to warrant refusal of the application on this basis.

20



9.26

9.27

9.28

9.29

9.30

v. Residential Amenity

Adopted Local Plan policy H11 states that planning permission will not be granted for schemes
which introduce a scale or density of new development which would cause damage to the
amenity of the area. As a material consideration of significant weight, BLPSV Policies SP3 and
HOS also seeks to ensure no undue harm to residential amenity enjoyed by the occupants of
adjoining properties

The nearest residential properties are Willows Cottage, Willow House, Fold Cottage, Westlodge
Cottage and Westwind Manor to the west, and nos. 1 and 2 Park Cottage, and nos. 1, 5 and 14
The Willows which are sited to the north on the opposite side of Maidenhead Road.

In relation to the residential properties to the west there would be a separation distance of
approximately 20m between the existing and proposed houses, which is considered to be
sufficient to mitigate any undue impact in terms of loss of light, loss of privacy and visual
intrusion. It is noted that the parking area for the flats at plot 10-19 would be sited adjacent to the
shared boundary with Willows Cottage, but the proposed parking is not considered to unduly
harm the amenity of the occupants through undue noise and disturbance due to the width and
depth of their garden. Furthermore, the parking replaces an existing delivery and storage area
and therefore it is considered that the parking and associated manoeuvring is unlikely to
introduce a significant increase in noise and disturbance over and above the existing situation.

The house at plot 1 would be sited opposite the entrance to Willows Riverside Park and so would
have little to no impact on residential amenity for the existing properties to the north. The house
at plot 26 would have a front-to-side relationship with nos. 1 and 2 Park Cottage, while the house
at plot 27 would have a side-to-side relationship with no. 1 The Willows. The side elevation of
nos. 1 and 2 Park Cottage does not have any ground floor windows but there are 2 first floor
windows that appear to be primary windows serving habitable rooms, while there are ground and
first windows serving habitable rooms to the side elevation of no. 1 The Willows, all of which abut
the highway. It is considered that there would be no undue loss of daylight to the windows and
rooms as the proposed house at plot 26 would subtend a 25 degree line taken from the mid-point
of each first floor window. Taking a 25 degree line from the mid-point of each ground floor window
the proposed house at plot 27 would clip this line, but given that the impact of the vast majority of
the house would subtend this angle it is also considered that there would be no materially harmful
loss of daylight to these windows and rooms. The proposed houses at plot 26 and 27 would
increase the visual presence of built development when viewed from nos. 1 and 2 Park Cottage
and no. 1 The Willows, but houses sited on opposite sides of a road is not an uncommon
relationship and there would be a separation distance of approximately 11m and 15m,
respectively. As such, it is considered that the proposal would not be visually overbearing or
intrusive when viewed from nos. 1 and 2 Park Cottage. The proposed house at plot 26 would also
have a first floor window which would approximately align with a first floor window at nos. 1 and 2
Park Cottage, both of which serve a habitable room. However, it is considered that there should
be less expectation of total privacy for windows facing a public highway and mutual overlooking
between houses on opposite sides of the road is not exceptional in the surrounding area. There
are no windows proposed to the side elevation facing no. 1 The Willows and so there are no
privacy concerns.

The block of flats at plot 28-39 would have a side-to-side relationship with no. 5 The Willows,
sited on the opposite side of Maidenhead Road at a distance of approximately 19m. There are 3
ground floor and 2 first floor windows to the side elevation of no. 5 The Willows, while there are 3
ground floor and 3 first floor windows proposed to the side elevation of the proposed block of
flats. Taking a 25 degree line taken from the mid-point of each ground floor window at no. 5 The
Willows, the proposed building would subtend this line and so not considered to result in an
undue loss of daylight to this neighbouring property. While the proposed building would be
substantial in size, it is considered that the separation distance would be sufficient to mitigate any
undue visual intrusion or overbearing when viewed from no. 5 the Willows. The distance is also
considered to sufficiently mitigate any undue overlooking from proposed windows to existing
windows at no. 5 The Willows. The proposal complies with the development plan in regard to
residential amenity.

21



9.31

9.32

9.33

9.34

9.35

9.36

vi. Highways

Adopted Local Plan policy T5 requires all development proposals to comply with adopted
highway design standards, policy P4 requires all development proposals to accord with adopted
car parking standards, while policy T7 seeks to ensure that new development makes appropriate
provision for cyclists including cycle parking. As a material consideration, BLPSV policy IF2
states that development proposals should support the policies and objectives of the Transport
Strategy as set out in the Local Transport Plan and provide car and cycle parking in accordance
with the current Parking Strategy. Given the lack of unresolved objections to policy IF2 it is
considered that this policy should be afforded significant weight in the consideration of this
application.

Trip Generation

The submitted Transport Assessment compares the vehicular two-way trips generated by the
existing development (travel survey) with the proposed development (TRICS) which is
summarised as follows:

AM Peak PM Peak Daily Saturday Peak
Arr. Dep. | Arr. Dep. Arr. Dep. Arr. Dep.
Existing 18 0 2 15 112 122 53 53
Proposed 6 24 17 8 120 124 5 11
Net Change | -12 +24 +15 -7 +8 +2 -48 -42

Overall, there would be a slight increase in vehicular trips with 12 additional two-way trips during
the morning peak, 8 additional two-way trips during the evening peak and 10 additional two-way
daily trips, and significant decrease of approximately 90 two-way trips during the Saturday peak.
On this basis it is considered that the impact on upon the local highway network and air pollution
from additional traffic would be acceptable.

Access

The existing site benefits from a single point of access to the north east corner of the site which
will be retained to serve plots 27 to 39 to the east of the site. A second access is proposed
serving the remaining units which is sited approximately 35m west of the existing access. As
originally submitted the application fails to demonstrate that the proposed accesses would
achieve acceptable visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m in both directions in accordance with adopted
highways design standards. A revised plan was subsequently submitted, ref: 1807075-02, to
demonstrate that this can be achieved and comments from the Highway Authority will be reported
in an update.

Parking

To facilitate the new access, 2 on-street parking spaces will need to be relocated approximately
37m to the west. There is no objection to this in principle, in the event of any planning permission
being granted it is recommended that the re-provision of this parking is secured by condition.

The Council’s adopted Parking Strategy requires a maximum provision of 1 car parking space per
1-bed unit, 2 car parking spaces per 2-3 bed unit, and 3 car parking spaces for a unit with 4 or
more bedrooms, which equates to a maximum provision of 78 spaces. The proposal would
provide 77 on-site car parking spaces which is in compliance. The spaces also conform to RBWM
parking design standards. If minded to approve it is recommended that the on-site parking
provision as shown on drawing ref: BEW21784 10A is secured by condition.

Cycle parking for the flats will be provided in the cycle store as shown at Drawing BEW21784
10A while residents of the houses will be able to store bicycles within the curtilage of the dwelling.
To ensure that the proposed provision of cycle parking at the site is in accordance with RBWM
details of the cycle parking layout could be secured by condition.

22



9.37

9.38

9.39

9.40

9.41

Refuse Provision

A swept path analysis, drawing ref: 1807075-TKO1 B, demonstrates that a RBWM refuse vehicle
can successfully enter, turn and exit the site in forward gear to serve the residential units to the
west of the site, which is acceptable. For the residential units to the east the waste collection
vehicle will not be required to enter/exit the site as the flats will be provided with communal bin
stores located adjacent to the block while the bin store for the house would be within the
curtilage, both of which are within 25m from the waste collection point (Maidenhead Road).

Sustainable Modes of Travel

Paragraph 103 of the NPPF states that significant development should be focused on locations
which are or can be made sustainable through offering a genuine choice of transport modes. The
Highway Authority has therefore commented that the application will need to either improve or
make a financial contribution to extend the footway from the A308 Windsor Road to the bus stop
on Ruddlesway; and improve/provide a pedestrian route from the site to Maidenhead Road by
providing a formal pedestrian crossing east of the roundabout on Maidenhead Road. This could
be facilitated through the CIL contribution from the scheme and fall to the Highway Authority to
then implement.

vii. Ecology

As a material consideration Paragraph 175 of the NPPF states that if significant harm to
biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated or as a last
resort compensated for then planning permission should be refused. Furthermore, protecting and
enhancing the natural environment forms part of the ‘Environmental’ dimension of ‘Sustainable
Development’ and paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should minimise
impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity. BLPSV Policy NR3, which should be allocated
significant weight in the consideration of this application, states that proposals should
demonstrate how they maintain, protect and enhance the biodiversity of application sites and
requires proposals to mitigate, or as a last resort compensate for, any adverse biodiversity
impacts where unavoidable adverse impact on habitats and biodiversity arise.

Habitats

The nearby river and woodland may constitute Habitats of Principle Importance under Section 40
of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006). The nearest protected site is
Sutherland Grange, which is a designated Local Nature Reserve and Local Wildlife Site located
405m east. There are no other statutory or non-statutory designated sites within 1km of the
application site. As the application site is largely isolated from Sutherland Grange, the river and
woodland by main roads and existing development it is unlikely that the proposed works would
significantly impact the Priority Habitats, Local Nature Reserve and Local Wildlife Site provided
standard measures to reduce the risk of pollution are adhered to. Therefore a Construction
Environmental Management Plan should be prepared to include measures to reduce the effect of
noise, vibration, dust and site lighting. This could be secured by condition, if the application were
to be approved.

Bats

The trees and buildings were assessed as having negligible to low potential to host roosting bats
and no evidence of bats were observed. The summer house on site, identified as building no. 4 in
the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, was noted to have a single potential bat entrance
feature, which did not lead to a suitable roost space, but nevertheless the Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal recommended that this feature if examined with an endoscope by an ecologist
immediately prior to demolition works and subsequently dismantled by hand. This could be
secured by condition.

23



9.42

9.43

9.44

9.45

9.46

9.47

9.48

Other Wildlife

Given the extent of habitats present and lack of nearby accessible ponds it is considered unlikely
that great crested newts or reptiles are present on site, and no evidence of badgers were
observed.

The site may be used by nesting birds. Breeding birds, their eggs and active nests are protected
by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and therefore if minded to approve than it
is recommended that an informative is added to advise that works to building roofs should be
taken outside of the bird nesting season, or if it is not practical then such areas should be
checked by a qualified ecologist immediately prior to clearance.

Biodiversity Enhancement

In line with paragraph 175 of the NPPF, development should incorporate opportunities for wildlife.
If minded to approve, it is recommended that biodiversity enhancement schemes such as bat and
bird boxes, hedgehog friendly fencing, log piles etc. should be secured by condition.

viii. Archaeology

Adopted Local Plan policy ARCH 3 states that planning permission will not be granted for
proposals which appear likely to adversely affect archaeological sites of unknown importance
unless adequate evaluation enabling the full implications of the development on archaeological
interests is carried out prior to the determination of the application. This is supported by
paragraph 189 of the NPPF which states that where a development site has the potential to
include heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require
developers to submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field
evaluation.

The site lies within the Thames Valley which has been a focus of settlement, agriculture and
burial from the earlier prehistoric period to the present day and important prehistoric finds have
been recorded close to the application site. Therefore, the application site falls within an area of
potential archaeological significance. If minded to approve, a programme of archaeological field
evaluation in accordance with a written scheme of investigation, and any subsequent mitigation
strategy, can be secured by condition. It is considered that this requirement can be secured post-
permission in this particular case as there has been some previous development on the site.

iXx. Open Space

Adopted Local Plan policy R3, R4 and R5 requires this site to make appropriate provision for
public open space within the development which should incorporate a local area for play (LAP).
National guidance (Guidance for Outdoor Sports and Play: Beyond the Six Acre Standards) sets
out the minimum activity zone for a LAP as 100sgm with a 5m separation between activity zones.
The proposed site plan shows the provision of approximately 233sgm of open space which is
sufficient to accommodate this and comply with the development plan.

x. Affordable Housing

The proposal includes 12 affordable units on site which accords, in principle, with Local Plan
policy H3 which requires that this development provides 30% affordable housing on site. As a
material consideration, paragraph 64 of the NPPF states that where major development involves
the provision of housing, at least 10% of the homes are expected to be available for affordable
home ownership, as part of the overall affordable housing contribution from the site unless this
would exceed the level of affordable housing required in the area or prejudice the ability to meet
the identified affordable housing need within the Borough. The Strategic Housing Market
Assessment (SHMA) highlights needs of the Borough and sets out a tenure of 80% of
social/affordable rented and 20% intermediate housing. In this case, while the number of
affordable housing units is acceptable, tenure mix has not been agreed, and in the absence of
the S106 legal agreement to secure the appropriate level and tenure of affordable housing the

24



9.49

9.50

9.51

9.52

9.53

9.54

proposal is considered contrary to Local Plan policy H3 and paragraph 64 of the NPPF. This
weighs against the scheme.

Xi. Other Material Considerations

Housing Land Supply

Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the NPPF set out that there will be a presumption in favour of
Sustainable Development. The latter paragraph states that:

For decision-taking this means: approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting
permission unless:
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Footnote 7 of the NPPF (2019) clarifies that policies which are most important for determining the
application are out-of-date for applications involving the provision of housing in situations where
the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites
(with the appropriate buffer). The same footnote confirms that the so called ‘tilted balance’ does
not apply where a site is located within the Green Belt. That said, the contribution a proposal
makes towards housing supply can form part of a case for Very Special Circumstances but
Government has made it clear that it would not, on its own, have sufficient weight to outweigh
substantial harm.

Following the Regulation 19 consultation on the Submission Version of the Local Plan, the
Council formally submitted in January 2018. The Borough Local Plan Submissions Version sets
out a stepped housing trajectory over the plan period (2013-2033). As detailed in the supporting
Housing Land Availability Assessment a five year supply of deliverable housing sites can be
demonstrated. However as the BLPSV is not yet adopted planning policy, due regard also needs
to be given regarding the NPPF standard methodology in national planning practice guidance to
determine the minimum number of homes needed for the borough. At the time of writing, based
on this methodology, the Council is able to demonstrate a five year rolling housing land supply
based on the current national guidance.

xii. Very Special Circumstances

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out that there will be a presumption in favour of Sustainable
Development. However, in this case paragraph 11 and the tilted balance is not engaged due to
the Green Belt designation which precludes the tilted balance being applied (footnote 6).

It has been demonstrated that in accordance with the NPPF the proposal is inappropriate
development in the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special
circumstances. Very special circumstance would not exist unless the potential harm to the Green
Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal is clearly
outweighed by other considerations.

In accordance with 144 of the NPPF substantial weight is given to the harm to the Green Belt by
reason of inappropriateness and the harm to openness. There is also other harm with regards to
character and appearance of the street scene and locality, and harm to trees which are given
significant weight against the proposal.

The applicant has put forward the following case for ‘'VSC’. Officers have assessed each in turn
and then carried out a balancing exercise as required.

25



VSC put forward by the Applicant

Weight attributed by Officers

Housing Need Benefits

Provision of 39 dwellings of a mixed type

RBWM can demonstrate a 5 year housing
land supply and provision of a mix of types
and sizes to meet local need is a policy
requirement, therefore this is given limited
weight.

Provision of affordable homes (30%) of a
mixed type and tenure

Percentage of affordable housing provision is
a policy requirement, and therefore this is
given no weight.

Sustainable Development (Economic)

Job creation at construction stage

Not quantified and therefore given limited
weight.

Increase in expenditure by residents on local
services

Not quantified and therefore given limited
weight.

Increase in council tax revenue and New
Homes Bonus

This would be of limited financial benefit and
therefore given limited weight.

Sustainable Development (Social)

Provision of publically accessible open space
which will provide social and health benefits.

Does not constitute VSC as provision is a
policy requirement and therefore given no
weight.

Would facilitate a more balanced local
demographic whereby younger people and
families will enjoy greater opportunities to live
locality with the supply of new homes,
including affordable homes

Open market housing would be available to
anyone, and affordable housing would be
available to those eligible also regardless of
age, and therefore given no weight.

Sustainable Development (Environmental)

Provision of green infrastructure through
provision of open space and landscaping
scheme

Does not constitute VSC as provision is a
policy requirement and therefore given no
weight.

Provision of for

enhancements

areas ecological

Does not constitute VSC as provision is a
policy requirement and therefore given no
weight.

Provision of SUDS scheme

Does not constitute VSC as provision is a
policy requirement and therefore given no
weight.

Provision of a high quality and attractive
development on a redundant and vacant site,
including new landscaping.

Considered to be harmful to the character
and appearance of the streetscene and
locality for the reasons outlined in para. 9.12 -
9.19 of this report and therefore given no
weight.

Other Considerations

BLPSV should be allocated significant weight
where they are no subject to significant
unresolved objections. Furthermore, it is
evidence that there are exceptional
circumstance that justify release of GB land
in the Borough as set out in relation to the
Stage 1 Examination Hearings.

Does not constitute VSC.

Site constitutes previously developed land
and other than Green Belt does not have any
other designated constraints.

Does not constitute VSC.

Site represents a suitable location for
development as situated in main urban

Does not constitute VSC.

26




9.53

10.

10.1

11.

111

11.2

11.3

114

115

centres within the Borough and proximate to
a number of local services. Furthermore, the
proposed allocation HA1l is identified to
deliver open space, sports pitches,
educational facilities and community hub.

The case of VSC put forward by the applicant would not clearly outweigh the substantial harm to
the Green Belt, and harm to the character and appearance to the streetscene and locality, and
harm to trees therefore the proposal would be contrary to the Development Plan.

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

In accordance with the Council’s adopted CIL charging schedule the development is CIL liable at
a rate of £240 per square metre of chargeable floor space. The Levy is intended to cover the
provision of infrastructure required to make development acceptable and that infrastructure
required over the plan period is set out in the Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan, last updated
in January 2018.

CONCLUSION AND PLANNING BALANCE

In accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning Act consideration should be given as to whether
there are material considerations which would suggest a different decision: consideration against
the Development Plan and material considerations is set out below.

The proposed development constitutes an inappropriate form of development in the Green Belt,
and would result in harm to the openness of the Green Belt. This harm to the Green Belt is
afforded substantial weight against the development. The case of VSC put forward by the
applicant would not clearly outweigh this harm and the harm to the character and appearance of
the streetscene, locality and trees. As such the proposal is contrary to Local Plan Policy GB1 and
GB2(a), policies SP1 and SP5 of the BLPSV (material consideration, significant weight) and
paragraph 133, 134,143, 144 and 145 of the NPPF (material consideration, significant weight).

The proposed sustainable drainage system is acceptable in principle, but additional information
has been submitted in respect of storage capacity, pollution control capabilities, clarification on
why above ground SUDS features cannot be provided, mitigation to prevent overland flows
affected the proposed properties, and how exceedance flows will be managed. Further
comments from the Lead Local Flood Authority will be reported in an update. This may weigh
against the scheme.

The proposed development would also represent poor design by reason of its layout, scale, form
and design the proposal would result in a dense, urban pattern of development which would
appear overly dominant and cramped within the site. This would be out of character with the
semi-rural and spacious character of the streetscene and area. Furthermore, the block of flats at
plot 28-39 would have a disjointed and disharmonious appearance due to its stepped heights and
elevations, complicated roof form and variations in the size and style of fenestration and brick
surrounds. The block of flats at plot 28-39 would therefore fail to successfully integrate with the
neighbouring development and the streetscene and area. As such, the proposal would be
contrary to Local Plan policies DG1, H10 and H11, policies SP2 and SP3 of the BLPSV (material
considerations, significant weight) and paragraph 127 of the NPPF (material consideration,
significant weight).

There are no objections to the proposed loss of on-site trees which are of poor quality, but there
are a number of significant trees located around the perimeter of the site on the adopted highway
which the proposed development would conflict with thereby potentially harming their health and
longevity, and in terms of mitigation the landscaping scheme originally submitted is considered
insufficient to soften the built form or provide an appropriate level of enhancement. A response to
the Council’'s Arboriculture Officer’s initial comments and revised landscaping scheme has been
submitted to address these concerns. Comments from the Council’s Arboriculture Officer on this
additional information will be reported in an update. On the current assessment this is considered
to constitute harm and weighs against the scheme.

27



11.6

11.7

11.8

11.9

11.10

11.11

11.12

12.

13.

The proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of impact on neighbouring amenity. The
proposed development would not have a significantly detrimental impact on the daylighting levels
currently received by the nearby residential properties and would not result in significant
increased overlooking or visual intrusion. The proposal is considered to accord with Local Plan
policy H11 and BLPSV policy SP3 and HO5 (material considerations, significant weight).

Subject to no substantive objection from the Highway Authority on revised plans, submitted to
demonstrate that acceptable visibility plays can be achieved at the proposed accesses there are
no highway concerns. Further comments from the Local Highway Authority will be reported in an
update.

The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of impact on ecology subject
to conditions relating to a construction environmental management plan (in line with the
Environmental Protection response); securing the recommendations made in Section 6 of the
Preliminary Ecology Appraisal (2018); and submission and approval of details of biodiversity
enhancements.

The impact of the proposed development on archaeological sites of unknown importance is
considered to be acceptable in accordance with Local Plan policy ARCH3 and paragraph 189 of
the NPPF subject to a condition to requiring a programme of archaeological field evaluation in
accordance with an approved written scheme of investigation, and any subsequent mitigation as
necessary. It is considered that this requirement can be secured post-permission in this particular
case as there has been some previous development on the site.

The proposed open space is considered to be in accordance with Local Plan policy R3, R4 and
R5.

The proposal includes 30% of the proposed residential units as affordable housing, but tenure
mix has not been agreed, and in the absence of a S106 legal agreement the development fails to
secure an acceptable level and tenure of affordable housing units. This would be contrary to
Local Plan policy H3 and paragraph 62, 63 and 64 of the NPPF.

It is recommended that the proposal fails to accord with the Development Plan in a number of
areas. This would indicate that permission should be refused. Regard has been given to
relevant material planning considerations, the proposal also fails to accord with some of those
material planning considerations and no material considerations have been identified of such
weight that it would suggest that a different decision should be taken. The application is therefore
recommended for refusal for the reasons set out in Section 13.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e Appendix A — Site Location Plan and Site Layout
e Appendix B — Proposed Plan and Elevation Drawings

REASONS RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL IF PERMISSION IS NOT GRANTED

The proposal represents inappropriate development in Green Belt, which is by definition harmful
to the Green Belt and would conflict with one of the purposes of the Green Belt, namely 'to assist
in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment’, and would be harmful to actual openness of
the Green Belt. Very Special Circumstances that clearly outweighs the harm to the Green Belt
and any other harm has not been demonstrated. The proposal is therefore contrary to the
provisions of saved policies GB1 and GB2(a) of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead
Local Plan 1999 (Incorporating Alterations Adopted in June 2003), policies SP1 and SP5 of the
Borough Local Plan Submission Version (2017) and paragraph 133, 134 ,143, 144 and 145 of the
National Planning Policy Framework (2019),

By reason of its layout, scale, form and design the proposal would result in a dense, urban
pattern of development which would appear overly dominant and cramped within the site and out

28



of character with the semi-rural and spacious character of the streetscene and area. Furthermore,
the block of flats at plot 28-39 would have a disjointed and disharmonious appearance due to its
stepped heights and elevations, complicated roof form and variations in the size and style of
fenestration and brick surrounds. The block of flats at plot 28-39 would therefore fail to
successfully integrate with the neighbouring development and the streetscene and area. The
proposal is therefore contrary to the provisions in saved policies DG1, H10 and H11 of the Royal
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Plan Incorporating Alterations adopted June 2003
(Local Plan), policies SP2 and SP3 of the Borough Local Plan Submission Version (2017) and
paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2018).

In the absence of a completed S106 legal agreement, the development fails to secure 30%
Affordable Housing and an acceptable tenure mix, and as such the proposal fails to comply with
the provisions of saved policies H3 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Plan
1999 (Incorporating Alterations Adopted in June 2003) and paragraph 62, 63 and 64 of the
National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

29



- _ _ T ———
| di-oier-4b HOSANIM ‘QvOd avIHNIAIVW e i |
5 ][ e | W0 3HINZO NIQHYD SIHINOS )
NOI530 LOD2SY
O7d STWOH A3TM3g
NY1d NOILYOOT _ . a
Il 3NSSIONINNYIG |

Appendix A — Site Location Plan and Site Layout

ZEFZZ0001 Jequinu sousor] pemasad sybu gy 102 wbuddon umoud (2) Asaung soupupl

aBENOD SMO| A

7
—
nm//\

uag yey

BSNOH UE|D

asnoH
MOl 2y L

[

31IS d350d0dd

| |
| (L

ayl

30



=]

g g &} H -
A gy o6 1|
I T o9 i i #ie

H § e E EF Fzz
i

§ £ ¥§
s OGO 6« B

0
SQUIRES GARDEN CENTRE,
MAIDENHEAD ROAD, WINDSOR

‘ﬁk
‘ “Frol
=

31




Appendix B — Proposed Plans and Elevations

&a:»;aé?xﬂ!
BN A 4] A LS o RO

_ 6L-9LL2r- L1

i_ T

,1_

1D __ o..umn!__ 1 B 002

SMOILD3S 3LS e
JINIDE L133Y1S a350d40ud

Wi
HOSONIM 'OYOH OYIHNIOYIN

FHINTT NIOHYD SIHINDS {00231} - 0-0 3N3IDS 133MLS 0IS0L08d
o
sz i o szmou
2d SANOH ATTM3A %m i %

NOS3d LODSY

anssioniNNyId |

I N

{00Z:H) - 98 NOLLD3S LIS 0380408d

[ e % [E1Cr % ezl % K2 % d % 52 0a % e e %

(002: 1) == NOILI3S LIS 03S0d0sd

Y

32



SIDE ELEVATION

LEVATION
PLOT 1 (BEWLEY HOUSETYPE

FRONWT £

- LONGSTOCH)

33

SIDE ELEVATION

HEAR ELEVATION

I

|

PLANNING |SSUE

e I[=

21100 @ A1

z v &
0z wf
% 9 E% 0
¥ T | 22| 2
w w [og| <
o w == ||
- = o |l we
o o =%+ oz
= Tofl50C
H I =4 =]
O3 > Cu i'd_:
SRR
E =
o = || 33|l og
- w 8= ||la
O (&= |
H i
e
21,
zi
1

] |“

it

|75 - 2116 -02

oo b ezt




. x || w ' '
Z ! | - | 2 {5
w (U] w5 — |z
=] - 9 | Ez| a - i
7] m w o 6% x : iz
@ w T EE g
I o z = s o
|2 R P
1 = |
z o =33 82 |z
< - 1] || %= @
Da o d | €3] 0zl s
= &
= = 32| o2l g7
< W || 8% |z 2|l
o | ]
& o i ||
«
o
g
]
21
B
B
z z
i H g,
g g Sh
=i o Lok
” % E g i
= @ =

AEAR ELEVATICH
GROUND FLODR

34



[+
ze R-1
o m 4
= = 9 | E2| =
AL " S A EHE
L2 | e — w o || 85 «
o w =< Q
g : Z |52 ce
= [ o ceo|l &
4 o I |&3| =2
< = Ol el 4=
| = 4 Wzl w>
s wy E i) =
FES N -8 EEI R
i R e
i e i i
T
T
5. | L
— f g
L = & _4 i
;;-'{ £ g
1 E

BE=

=]
—

[y

il ek sreezne L e
eI \!I K
. M
AL ] /
? -
HillHie
2] |
PLOT 4
G F3E (385 18

FLOT
SECOND FLOOR
G, 33,8007 355 I

Gl B2200 562 1

]

G, 52,20 56

A A

]
prpe
o

SIDE ELEVATION
|
IDE ELEVATION
f
N, -~

z.2m | 562 NF

PLOT
FIRST FLOOR

Gl 5

FEAR ELEVATION

FRONT ELEVATION
GROUMND FLODR

PLOTS 3.8

35



o i z
e gl "
VR H U2 2
2 S 92| s
I g
2 — S| E2( 3
0 L a 69 o
o - &R ?é O(‘r
Z b 2 ||eg| 22
: A
D“ n | oF| 2%
2 = I
* @ Em
= s2|| oo
& O s
o |,2= | =
i H ;

§
E
&

PLOTE
A, 338

PLOTT

G, 3G 365 80

JELY

g

N

e

GlA, B2.2m* 552 e

LA A

I

IDE ELEVATICN

I0S ELEVATION
£

M

B22me ! sE2

S

ala

e

Gl 52,20 1562 10

PLOT

PLOTT

z .
: : 4 B L.
g . O
= E y
: : =3
| # £ ¥
; & I
£ £ 4
EE : :
3 : :

36



o1 oty 2 e ma
By s o 8 s h o S

[ -] 90=0L1Z0 - L}

T

1D __ 24,030 __ W B 00k _
— - e

SNOILYATTI ®
SNY1d 40074 #2 R 6 SL0Td

W b

HOSAMIM 'OY0H A¥IHNIANWIN
‘IHINTD NIAHYD STHINDS

s

Od S3INOH AZ1M3d

s

i ossE|awl]

ND153d LODSY

3nssl oNINNYTd |

NO| LA 308

NOILYATIE 3018

HOLLYAZS HYSH

WOOH NIOHYD +

(ATl = A1 TIEN0H ATAATE) 02 F 8 E107d

HNOLLYAZTI LNOHA

37



oty s A ma
P s i et oo B

_ - u__ L0-sLiar-Ll

_ ..-: @ .umn!__ LT f_

SNYd HOO0T4 61 - 0L 51074

0

HOSANIM 'O¥0H OvIHNIYIN
AHINIZ NIOHYD SIHINDS
Ao

071d SIN0H A3TW38

BL 107 BL=5l 8107 £L=0L 81074
HOOTS ONCDIS HOOTS L5HI4 HOOTS ONNOHD

3NSsIONINNYI] |

]

38



10

=

G ]

11100 @ A1

39

w
w 0z Fo|| =
=] — = S EZ| &
w w o Z=|| =
2} i w Oglfly
o) [u] g Z3|| o
= Is] =14 @
E = T o -
I |= ]
z 0 > || ed|| e
3 u L8z o
o [ =W [y
. = Sol|l o
< w o= ||ls23
m |a@=E (o
i i i

z

=}

5

[

o

&

]

&

=

d

&

[=}

i

17 = J2116 =08

h

|.¢.

=




71

SI0E SLEVATIN

SIDE ELEVATION

REAR ELEVATION

40

2
z e é ; ;In ¥
w 0] w A — H
= | I — 9zl = - ]
] \'mu v a |22 8 5o 4
2) | w 72} Ogll o = &
6] a S || 83| ta|E 5
S - [=] gz Sz =|[E
=1 I 22| =0 =1 |
Z O > GE || ok S |5
g o A EREE R
T " = |[z&| 2al &l 2]
e ERIEE R I
. w o= |l Z(fsr
o |Le= || 5|
i N i i k|
o .
5 &
O
i
2
]

20

r
131
g

£
5
G
2
g

ALOT 21

i § 1348 7

. 39,3m7 1 473 N0




1

SIDE ELEVATION

PLOTS 23 & 25 (BEWLEY HOUSETYPE -
BIPLEY) + GARDEN ROOM

FRONT ELEVATION

41

PLANNING ISSUE

ASCOT DESIGHN

BEWLEY HOMES PLC

SQUIRES GARDEN CEMTRE,
MAIDENHEAD ROAD, WINDSOR

=

—mw

PLOTS 23 & 25 FLOOR PLANS

& ELEVATIONS

o @ A1 H DEC 18 ” cr

11101

|....

l

e e S

17=-J2116=10

Y

i ek e




i

SI0E ELEVATION

FRONT ELEVATION

PLOT 26 [BEWLEY HOUSETYRE - LONGETOG)

SI0E ELEVATION

AEAS ELEVATION

42

-

PLANNING |SSUE

z e é 16
Oz 2o w ]
= SINEEZ| 2 [[=
- = |25]|5 |2
w w Ogll & o
] w z= o 1
- = | Bglleel—
s S EE
oz > || 38| =
U 0| ez|l&s
= (58] 53
- = o 3= gguJ
(EE | - e R
§ 5 H ks
=
2 1
2
L]
]
«
[=]
g
2
5
2
g
o
2
[CI-

e

17 =J2116=11

™

=

220 ke Uk




SIDE ELEVATION

SIDE ELEVATION

PLOT 27

.

3

]

=

g

o

g

£
\||
(it

| |

|||H\||
H"'II Il
it
il
\ I||| |

‘|| \|| .

\||||||“|| f £

[ £

‘\}|||||||

I| Il i

E

Wl £

43

PLANNING ISSUE

ASCOT DESIGHN

Timelass o

BEWLEY HOMES PLC

SQUIRES GARDEN CENTRE,
MAIDENHEAD ROAD, WINDSOR

0

3

=

PLOT 27 FLOOR PLANS

& ELEVATIONS

DEC 18 ||

17 =-J2116-12

=W

[




EL=8LLEr- L

L]

_ ....__ m_....oy!__ W B 0K f_

SNY1d "0014
BE -8 5L07d
W e
HOSANIM 'OY0H AYIHNIANW
FHINIT NIOHYED SIHINDS
o

O'1d S3NOH AZ1WM3g

3nssi ONINNYd |

[{

o=

4

L0
035

44



z o] '
=) = S ||E2 -
AL e a || 2= i
2) Tl g l8s) |8
g B s | 88| o |—
= . o o m
= o T |27z
E 03 > S|l g8
3 Ot i) & g2 52

2Ee | 2| s2l|lEal g

L~ 33 i) O |lea ]| B

o |.@2|fzd
i i i H

——]
\‘H
I e
||\| I||
||‘ ‘| ||| Ill
i i \} &
‘I |1Ii |;|Ii|
|
||||\|| E i
”l' I"'Il |
I \
i =
= i gl
A
I I||||’||
i
|\||'I|:|'|I|'||I|I| '||
i
||"||
I
: I|||"|||I|
F |'||| ||||||
i
|‘||| g
{
'|'||I|‘I !

45



WINDSOR URBAN DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

18 March 2019 ltem: 2

Application 19/00290/FULL

No.:

Location: 19 Arthur Road Windsor SL4 1RS

Proposal: Single storey side/rear extension, alterations to rear fenestration, raising of ridge,
second floor rear extension with rear dormer and 4 No. roof lights to facilitate a loft
conversion

Applicant: Mr & Mrs Pearson

Agent: Mrs Rosie Craggs

Parish/Ward:  Windsor Unparished/Castle Without Ward

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Haydon Richardson on 01628 796697 or at
haydon.richardson@rbwm.gov.uk

1.

11

3.1

4.1

SUMMARY

The proposed development is for rear and roof extensions to an existing end of terrace dwelling.
The proposals would have an unacceptable impact on the character and appearance of the area
because of their bulk and design.

It is recommended the Panel refuses planning permission for the following summarised
reasons (the full reasons are identified in Section 9 of this report):

1. | Due to the site’s prominent location, the bulky, contrived and poor design of the proposed
roof works would be visible from Charles Street, Goswell Road and the end of Arthur Road.
The visually prominent and uncharacteristic roof extension is therefore considered to be
harmful to the area’s character and appearance contrary to policies DG1 and H14 of the
Councils Local Plan, alongside Section 12 of the NPPF (2019), which seeks to
sympathetically integrate development into existing environments. The proposal would
also be contrary to emerging policies SP2 and SP3 of the Borough Local Plan Submission
Version.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION
® At the request of Councillor Richards in the public interest

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

No.19 Arthur Road is a two storey, brick built, end of terrace property. To the east of the site is
the spacious entrance to the FM Global business centre, several small trees and the Charles
Street roundabout. Due to the height of the dwelling and the openness of its surroundings the
properties side elevation is clearly visible from Goswell Road and Charles Street.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

The application seeks planning permission for a single storey side/rear extension with an L
shaped dormer and raising of the properties ridge height.

Ref. Description Decision and
Date

18/02763 | Single storey side/rear extension with roof terrace | Refused:

/FULL above, alterations to rear fenestration, raising of ridge, | 27.11.2018
second floor rear extension with Juliet balcony, rear
dormer and 4 No. rooflights to facilitate a loft conversion

46



51

5.2

5.3

6.1

MAIN RELEVANT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION
Royal Borough Local Plan

The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are:

Within
settlement area | High risk of flooding
Local Plan DG1, H14 F1

These policies can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local plan documents and appendices

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance SP2. SP3
of area
Manages flood risk and waterways NR1

The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents have now been
submitted to the Secretary of State for examination. The Submission Version of the Borough
Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough. However, by
publishing and submitting the Borough Local Plan for independent examination the Council has
formally confirmed its intention to adopt the submission version. As the Council considers the
emerging Borough Local Plan to be sound and legally compliant, officers and Councillors should
accord relevant policies and allocations significant weight in the determination of applications
taking account of the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies and
degree of consistency with the 2012 NPPF. Therefore, the weight afforded to each policy as a
material planning consideration will differ depending on the level and type of representation to
that policy. This is addressed in more detail in the assessment below. The Development Plan
has primacy.

Supplementary planning documents adopted by the Council relevant to the proposal are:
o Interpretation of Policy F1 — Areas liable to flooding

More information on this document can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local _development framework/494/supplementary planning

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are:

[ Flooding

ii Visual impact on host dwelling and locality in general
iii Impact on neighbour amenity

v Parking provision

a7


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

i. Flooding

The application site is located within flood zone 3. Local Plan Policy F1 of the Adopted Local
Plan is applied to all development within areas liable to flooding. The policy indicates that new
residential development or non-residential development, including extensions in excess of 30m2
will not be permitted “unless it can be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Borough Council
that the proposal would not of itself, or cumulatively in conjunction with other development: 1)
impede the flow of flood water; or 2) reduce the capacity of the floodplain to store flood water; or
3) increase the number of people or properties at risk from flooding”. The proposed rear
extension would add approximately 10m2 of ground covered area and would therefore be in
compliance with Local Plan Policy F1. Policy F1 is considered to be consistent with the relevant
NPPF; the proposal is also consistent with the NPPF 2019 which is afforded significant weight as
a material consideration.

Visual Impact

The appearance of a development is a material planning consideration and the National
Planning Policy Framework, Section 12 (Achieving well-designed places) and Local Plan Policy
DG1, advises that all development should seek to achieve a high quality of design that improves
the character and quality of an area. Local plan Policy H14 suggests that extensions should
cause no significant harm to the appearance of the host dwelling. Borough Local Plan
Submission Version emerging Policy SP3 can be given significant weight and places similar
emphasis on integrating development into areas in a sympathetic and visually harmonious
manner.

The proposed single storey rear extension would be no deeper than the existing single storey
rear addition and would predominantly infill the space between the properties two storey
outrigger and side boundary wall. The extension has a pitched roof, with 2.5m eaves and a 3m
ridge height. Due to its moderate height and considered design, the ground floor extension would
have an acceptable impact on the host dwelling and would cause no harm to the area’s
appearance.

Other properties in the area have been granted planning permission for L shaped dormers and
raised ridges (15/02452, 15/01182, 17/00106). Notwithstanding the above, each application
should be determined on its own merits. Due to the site’s end of terrace location the proposed
works would not be contained within neighbouring terraces (like the approved schemes
referenced above). The resulting property would have a bulky and contrived roof form, consisting
of flat and pitched elements, of varying heights and material. Furthermore it would be viewed
against the property’s brick side elevation, which is much lighter in colour and would therefore
increase the prominence of the works. The contrived and uncharacteristic design of the scheme
would be visible from Arthur Road, Charles Street and Goswell Road and is considered to be
significantly harmful to the area’s appearance.

Moreover, the site is part of a terrace of five properties where roofs have not been altered in
terms of ridge height or other significant alterations. These properties are of a smaller scale than
other properties further along the terrace where significant alterations have taken place.

For these reasons the proposal is contrary to policies DG1 and H14 of the Adopted Local Plan,
alongside Section 12 of the NPPF, which seeks to sympathetically integrate development into
existing environments, and emerging policies SP2 and SP3 of the Borough Local Plan
Submission Version which are afforded significant weight as material planning considerations.

Neighbour Amenity
Policy H14 requires that extensions should not result in an unacceptable loss of light or privacy

to neighbouring properties or significantly affect their amenities by being visually intrusive or
overbearing.

48



6.9

6.10

6.11

6.12

The infill element of the extension would be sited next to the entrance of the neighbouring
business centre where it would cause no harm. At present a 2m deep, 2.8m high extension
exists on the boundary shared with No.21 Arthur Road. The new extension would be of similar
depth and would be 2.5m high on the boundary. For these reasons the extension is unlikely to
have any significantly worse impact on the amenities of No.21 when compared with the existing.
The proposed dormer and Juliet balcony would provide similar views to the existing first floor
windows and other dormers which have been approved in the area.

For these reasons the proposed development is not considered to have a significantly harmful
impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties.

Parking Provision

In accordance with the adopted parking standards in Appendix 7 of the Local Plan as amended
by the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Parking Strategy, May 2004, it is necessary
for 4 bedroom dwellings to provide 3 parking spaces and therefore there would be a shortfall in
parking provision. However, there are parking restrictions along Arthur Road and given the sites
close proximity to bus routes, the train station and Windsor Town Centre, it would be
unreasonable to refuse the scheme on parking grounds.

Other Considerations

Whilst the Council has introduced CIL and a Charging Schedule would detail that the levy
applies, the proposal would not exceed 100m2 in residential floor space and would not require
any payment on that basis.

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Comments from interested parties

1 letter was received objecting to the application, summarised as:

Where in the
Comment report this is
considered

1. | The existing property is in a state of disrepair and is infrequently The owners
occupied by its owners. The poor state of the property is impacting upon | occupation of
my terrace and | am concerned that the proposed works could cause the property is
further harm to my property. not a material
planning
consideration,
nor is the
property’s
maintenance.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e Appendix A - Site location plan

e Appendix B — Existing elevation and floor plans
e Appendix C — Proposed elevation and floor plans

Documents associated with the application can be viewed at
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/pam/search.jsp by entering the application number shown at the top of
this report without the suffix letters.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues raised through the
application. The Case Officer has sought solutions to these issues where possible to secure a

49


http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/pam/search.jsp

development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, in
accordance with NPFF.

In this case the issues have been unsuccessfully resolved.
RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL

Due to the site's prominent location, the bulky, contrived and poor design of the proposed roof
works would be visible from Charles Street, Goswell Road and the end of Arthur Road. The
visually prominent and uncharacteristic roof extension is therefore considered to be harmful to
the area's character and appearance contrary to policies DG1 and H14 of the Councils Local
Plan, alongside Section 12 of the NPPF (2019), which seeks to sympathetically integrate
development into existing environments. The proposal would also be contrary to emerging
policies SP2 and SP3 of the Borough Local Plan Submission Version.

50



Appendix A — Location Plan

176974m 176974m
T
760: [ 769
768
176774m 176774m

wgySaey

20 40 60 80 100

\ 20 0
S L o

Metres

Appendix B — Existing floorplans and elevations

. ™ a (s
A T I o A

FIRST FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:100

GROUND FLOCR PLAN
SCALE 1:100

51

NOTES:

LOCATION PLAN

e reveion oeas.

By

SS54urcurricrs

57 Wt Road
Conr
B
=D

JAMES PEARSON

10 ARTHUR ROAD
g e

018

0185 | 100 | ==

= = =
Yo @Az [ Rac
O ]
SS4uucurrects
57 v oot
iy T cans 3o es73
e ot
T
JAMES PEARSON
e
18 ARTHUR ROAD
per
EXISTING GROUND &
FIRST FLOOR PLANS
ey B

F= = =
T100 @A3 RAC ox18




- NOTES:
(J z O ——————
N detemine et loaton of e
. A amen Chcsted 518 B D
| "
s B
N
A N
77777 g — I C } M,
I e o
ROOCF PLAN
SCALE 1:100
T
(=
NS
c
e dme  mvsnosss 0§
. R
& SS4uncuirecrs
fpm et Ta: eans o 573
i) et
I e
A o JANES PEARSON
T
@ ARTHUR ROAD.
LOFT FLOOR PLAN c e
SCALE 1:100 EXISTING LOFT
& ROOF FLANS
s e
o 2 w4 : om  Tm Em  on - 0185 101 <>
T — — —— —
fa00 @43 |7 Rac |“owis

PLANNING

NOTES:

MESEUTEC SUIVEY 0025 101 PGS Tor PITUENE SUNEY 10

REAR ELEVATION WEST ELEVATION
SCALE 1-100 SCALE 1:100

SO,
A D708 West slevation added RC
N

SS4urcurrects

57 Nertn Rusd

|
|
|
l Tui o703 399 8573
| BT e sedarchieets o e
| ECS
| JAMES PEARSON
|
e
| — 1 12 ARTHUR ROAD
I T ]
\ | —
EAST ELEVATION EXISTING ELEVATIONS
FRONT ELEVATION
SCALE 1-100 SCALE 1:100
£ g ==

m am Am m m 7m  &m  on  10m 0185 102 | A

= WD
T100 @a3 rac |

Appendix C — Proposed floor plans and elevations

52



NOTES:

Me35ure0 Uy B0es NCH NS To INTUENE Uy 10
SIS 10K OGN O AT SUEpOTng STUCATE
A3 Gmeneions Mt be cAec= on S P05 WS
commencing oy e corfractar.

|

e—

S etk

FIRST FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:100

c mm

Revsed ganaioorederson ARG
oot & st fcorwindowin ne:
Wil panving commenis

B OL8 RemcdmnouEmoiEme ARG

A DB OptAkbhenimosthouded  RC
notes acoed

i o3k eveon oemis £l

SS4uncnirecrs

SruELROM

A Telh G208 350 8573
i =
O : =
D 12 ARTHUR ROAD

GROUND FLOOR PLAN oraaing e
SCALE 1:100 FROPOSED GROUND &
FIRST FLOOR PLANS

=500 @as [T Ra

e
<

J——
Az

c
T T .
B B
e | I
A { A
PO | B L1 BIE I | S
|t |
UL T D e LTI
c
ROOF PLAN
SCALE 1100
T
Iz
F— c \ D 0119 Revsedwindowiobedd RC
| e ‘ TS ——
rodf In line with pianning
s
PR TP TS ———
by

A D8 Beddwindowrevesdiojusie ARG
bacony

Te ik reveion oeme E]

SS4arcuireers

57 e Rowd

Ta: 0208 34 8873
& ot £
Giert
JAMES PEARSON
o
c 18 ARTHUR ROAD
LOFT FLOOR PLAN ey
SCALE 1:100 PROPOSED LOFT PLANS
OPTION B
o, E=— =

v e e e 0185 | 203 | D

= = =
Tao0 @m " rac [gais

53



o il gased it Sk
ra rsonn e e

REAR ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

|
FRONT ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

DOOAOMAAT

10 dograe i

WEST ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

EAST ELEVATION
SCALE 1100

54

FLANNING

NOTES:

Measured survey does nof nciude for isusive suvey o
determine exact lozaon of ing swcture.
A AMIENSINS MUEE D CECKED O 1€ EAIOF 10 WONKE.
commencing by the conracor.

F. 0113 RevisedwnaowDiof beamom  RC

1115 Reviead GF exensin ol FF RC
Wiaw rEvEnEa to Sxsing
ine with commenis

Farring
D 1115 Redpenovesiay R
€ DRME Coominaion wih GF plan RC
B O7.1E  REviSed D NGLOEMOT ENEE | AC
A 0313 Beddwhdowmdsed ioletie RO
BaCNY, Notes 30080
T il revebnosmae 0y

SS54urcuirecrs

4 54 e’ Famd
Londer. Tl 0203 38 4873

oo @a2

[ ot fish sttt BT s s barchiscts.co b
475 dugren sl
et
JAMES PEARSON
e

12 ARTHUR ROAD

arwnase
PROPOSED ELEVATIONS
(COMBINED)
ok na. craveng no =

0185 204 | F




Agenda ltem 5

Planning Appeals Received

20 February 2019 - 7 March 2019

WINDSOR URBAN

The appeals listed below have been received by the Council and will be considered by the Planning Inspectorate.
Should you wish to make additional/new comments in connection with an appeal you can do so on the Planning
Inspectorate website at https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ please use the Plns reference number. If you do
not have access to the Internet please write to the relevant address, shown below.

Enforcement appeals: The Planning Inspectorate, Temple Quay House, 2 The Square, Temple Quay, Bristol,
BS1 6PN

Other appeals: The Planning Inspectorate Temple Quay House, 2 The Square Bristol BS1 6PN

Ward:

Parish: Windsor Unparished

Appeal Ref.: 19/60013/REF Planning Ref.:  18/02151/FULL PIns Ref.:  APP/T0355/W/19/
3222439

Date Received: 27 February 2019 Comments Due: 3 April 2019

Type: Refusal Appeal Type: Written Representation

Description: Replacement dwelling with new front boundary treatment, entrance gates and additional

parking
Location: Upton Lodge 12 Winkfield Road Windsor SL4 4BG
Appellant: Mr Parmijit Grewal c/o Agent: Mr Richard Simpson RJS Planning 132 Brunswick Road

London W5 1AW

55


https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/

This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT.docx access to info.pdf
	Declaring Interests at Meetings (Oct 2015).pdf
	Insert from: "APRIL 2017_Govt access and declarations of interest.pdf"
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT.docx access to info.pdf
	Declaring Interests at Meetings (Oct 2015).pdf


	3 MINUTES
	4 PLANNING APPLICATIONS (DECISION)
	5 ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING)

